BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

PEOPLE OF THE PEOPLE OF ILLINOIS,

Complainant,

v.

PCB No. 13 - 12 (Enforcement – Air)

NACME STEEL PROCESSING, LLC, a Delaware limited liability corporation,

Respondent.

NOTICE OF SERVICE

To: See Attached Service List (VIA ELECTRONIC FILING)

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that I have today filed with the Illinois Pollution Control Board, the **PEOPLE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ALL COUNTS OF COMPLAINT AGAINST RESPONDENT, NACME STEEL PROCESSING, LLC**

Respectfully submitted,

Nancy J. Tikalsky

Assistant Attorney General Office of the Illinois Attorney General Environmental Bureau 69 West Washington Street, Suite 1800 Chicago, Illinois 60602 (312) 814-8567

Date: May 16, 2014

THIS FILING IS SUBMITTED ON RECYCLED PAPER

SERVICE LIST

Edward V. Walsh, III ReedSmith LLP 10 South Wacker Drive Chicago, Illinois 60606-7507

Bradley P. Halloran, Hearing Officer Illinois Pollution Control Board 100 W. Randolph Street, Suite 11-500 Chicago, Illinois 60601

THIS FILING IS SUBMITTED ON RECYCLED PAPER

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

PEOPLE OF THE PEOPLE OF ILLINOIS,

Complainant,

v.

PCB No. 13 - 12 (Enforcement – Air)

NACME STEEL PROCESSING, LLC, a Delaware limited liability corporation,

Respondent.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, the undersigned attorney at law, hereby certify that on May 16, 2014, I served true and

correct copies of the **PEOPLE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ALL**

COUNTS OF COMPLAINT AGAINST RESPONDENT, NACME STEEL

PROCESSING, LLC, upon the persons and by the methods as follows:

[First Class U.S. Mail]

Edward V. Walsh, III ReedSmith LLP 10 South Wacker Drive Chicago, Illinois 60606-7507

[electronically]

Bradley P. Halloran, Hearing Officer Illinois Pollution Control Board 100 W. Randolph Street, Suite 11-500 Chicago, Illinois 60601

Nancy J. Tikalsky Assistant Attorney General Office of the Illinois Attorney General Environmental Bureau 69 West Washington Street, Suite 1800 Chicago, IL 60602 (312) 814-8567

Date: May 16, 2014

THIS FILING IS SUBMITTED ON RECYCLED PAPER

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS,

Complainant,

v.

NACME STEEL PROCESSING, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,

PCB No. 13 - 12 (Enforcement – Air)

Respondent.

PEOPLE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Complainant, PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, by LISA MADIGAN, Attorney General of the State of Illinois ("Complainant" or "State" or "People"), pursuant to Section 101.516 of the Illinois Pollution Control Board's ("Board") Procedural Regulations, 35 Ill. Adm. Code 101.516 and Section 2-1005 of the Illinois Code of Civil Procedure, 735 ILCS 5/2-1005 (2012), hereby moves for summary judgment in favor of the People and against the Respondent, NACME STEEL PROCESSING, LLC ("Respondent" or "Nacme") on the issue of liability and civil penalties as alleged in the People's Complaint filed on September 5, 2012 ("Complaint") (hereto attached as Exhibit A). For the reason that the pleadings, depositions, admissions and affidavits show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, the Complainant is entitled to summary judgment on liability and civil penalties as a matter of law. In support thereof, Complainant states as follows:

I. INTRODUCTION

From at least April 16, 2002 through February 11, 2012, Respondent conducted pickling operations at its steel processing facility located at 429 West 127th Street, Chicago, Cook County, Illinois ("Facility"), a major source for air emissions, without a

Title V Clean Air Act Permit Program ("CAAPP") permit or, in the alternative, a Federally Enforceable State Operating Permit ("FESOP") in violation of Sections 39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) of the Illinois Environmental Protection Act ("Act"), 415 ILCS 5/39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) (2010). In 2001, the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency ("Illinois EPA" or "Agency") issued Nacme a State Operating Permit No. 96020074 for air emissions with an expiration date of October 25, 2005 ("Nacme's SOP").

During the relevant time period, April 16, 2002 through February 11, 2012, Nacme submitted FESOP applications and a construction application to the Agency attesting that Nacme's Facility was a major source with a potential to emit ("PTE") hydrochloric acid ("HCL"), a hazardous air pollutant ("HAP"), air emissions greater than 10 tons per year ("tpy"). Each application relied on reports from one of the following stack tests conducted at Nacme's Facility on the following dates: April 16, 2002, ("April 2002 Stack Test"), and December 21, 2006 ("December 2006 Stack Test").

October 18, 2005 was the first time Nacme submitted to the Agency a CAAPP application requesting a FESOP to conduct pickling operations at the Facility, which relied on Nacme's April 2002 Stack Test results ("2005 FESOP Application"). Nacme submitted its 2005 FESOP Application 3¹/₂ years *after* Nacme had obtained the results for its April 2002 Stack Test showing that the PTE HCL air emissions exceeded 10 tpy, and *after* the Agency determined Nacme's two prior SOP renewal applications submitted in 2005 to be incomplete for failure to provide: 1.) adequate emissions information to assess the Facility's HCL PTE, and 2.) justification for Nacme's proposed actual air emissions

factors for the HCL ("April 2005 Notice of Incompleteness" and "September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness").¹

In the September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, the Agency informed Nacme it was required to submit a CAAPP application because its PTE HCL air emissions exceeded 10 tpy for a single source during the April 2002 Stack Test, which qualified the Facility as a major source for purposes of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) (2010). In the same notice, the Agency stated that Nacme needed to submit a construction permit application if it wanted the Agency to consider an increase in the maximum annual steel throughput process rate ("process rate") proposed in its 2005 FESOP Application because the process rate proposed in Nacme's 2005 FESOP application as follows: 1.) the process rate derives from Nacme's April 2002 Stack Test results, and 2.) the process rate the Agency permitted Nacme's SOP ("Process Modification").²

In its 2005 FESOP Application, Nacme proposed a FESOP which would permit the Facility to operate with a Process Modification. At that time, Nacme failed to submit a construction permit application for the Process Modification proposed in its 2005 FESOP Application. In December 2005, the Agency informed Nacme a construction permit would be required for the Agency to issue a FESOP with the Process Modification as proposed in Nacme's 2005 FESOP Application. At the same time, the Agency informed Nacme that it would need to conduct a stack test at the proposed process rate

¹ Nacme's initial SOP renewal application received by the Agency on April 12, 2005 was determined to be incomplete by the Agency in a letter dated April 13, 2005. Nacme again submitted an SOP renewal application received by the Agency on September 12, 2005 in response to the April 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, which the Agency also determined to be incomplete in a letter dated September 20, 2005. 2 Nacme's 2005 FESOP application proposed a process rate of 85.6 tph while its April 2002 Stack Test shows that the stack test was conducted at a process rate of 33.3 tph.

because the April 2002 Stack Test resulted in a process rate below the process rate proposed in its 2005 FESOP Application.

In March 2007, Nacme submitted to the Agency a change request to its 2005 FESOP Application for a proposed Process Modification that equaled the process rate conducted during its December 2006 Stack Test ("2007 FESOP Application").³ Although Nacme submitted a Fee Determination for Construction Permit Application with its request, Nacme failed to submit a construction permit application for the Process Modification. Once again, the Agency informed Nacme a construction permit would be required that included the equivalent Process Modification proposed in its 2007 FESOP Application because it was a change in process rate from Nacme's SOP.

On February 12, 2012, Nacme submitted a construction permit application for the Process Modification it requested in its 2007 FESOP Application. On April 26, 2012, the Agency approved and issued Construction Permit – NSPS Source No. 031600FWL ("2012 Construction Permit"). A special condition in the Construction Permit authorized Nacme to operate the equipment listed in the Construction Permit at the Facility with the proposed Process Modification until the Agency takes final action on the 2012 FESOP Application.

Nacme's Answer and Affirmative Defense of Nacme Steel Processing, LLC to the Complaint of the People of the State of Illinois ("Answer")(hereto attached as Exhibit B and incorporated herein), Nacme Steel Processing, LLC.'s Response to Complainant's First Request for Admission of Facts ("Nacme's Admission of Facts") (hereto attached as Exhibit C and incorporated herein), the Deposition of Britt Wenzel ("Wenzel

³ Nacme proposed a Process Modification from the current process rate of 33.3 tph in its 2005 FESOP application to a process rate of 119.9983 tph.

Deposition") (hereto attached as Exhibit D and incorporated herein), together with the People's affidavits by Valeriy Brodsky ("IEPA Brodsky's Affidavit) (hereto attached as Exhibit E and incorporated herein) and Tom Reuter ("IEPA Reuter Affidavit")(hereto attached as Exhibit F and incorporated herein), support this motion and establish all material facts necessary to prove Nacme's liability and the People's entitlement to penalties. Accordingly, because there is no genuine issue of material fact, the People are entitled to summary judgment and civil penalties as a matter of law.

II. <u>PROCEDURAL HISTORY</u>

On September 5, 2012, the People filed a one-count Complaint against Nacme alleging violations of the Act, 415 ILCS $5/1 \ et \ seq$. The People allege that Respondent violated Sections 39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) (2010). Specifically, the People allege Nacme 'Operated a Major Stationary Source without a Clean Air Act Permit Program permit' from at least April 16, 2002 through February 11, 2012.

On November 2, 2012, the People received service of Nacme's Answer, which had been filed with the Board on November 1, 2012.

On November 30, 2012, the People filed with the Board its Motion to Strike and Dismiss Respondent's Affirmative Defenses. On January 8, 2013, the Hearing Officer issued an Order granting the parties an agreed motion to allow Respondent to withdraw its affirmative defenses and file amended affirmative defenses to the Complaint. On January 16, 2013, the People received service by Nacme of its Amended Affirmative Defenses to the Complaint, which had been filed with the Board on January 15, 2013. On February 8, 2013, the People filed with the Board its Motion to Strike and Dismiss

Respondent's Amended Affirmative Defenses. On March 11, 2013, Nacme filed its Response to People's Motion to Strike and Dismiss Respondent's Amended Affirmative Defenses. On March 25, 2013, People filed its Motion for Leave to File Reply Instanter and Reply Brief in Support of Motion to Strike and Dismiss Respondent's Amended Affirmative Defenses, and on April 1, 2013, Nacme filed its Objection to State's Request to File Reply Brief in Support of Motion to Strike Affirmative Defenses. On June 6, 2013 the Board issued an order allowing Nacme's Amended Affirmative Defenses on Laches and Waiver only.

III. STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS

The Agency is an administrative agency established in the executive branch of the State government by Section 4 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/4 (2010), and charged, *inter alia*, with the duty of enforcing the Act. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶2]

Respondent, Nacme, is and has been a Delaware corporation registered in good standing with the Illinois Secretary of State and duly authorized to do business in the State of Illinois. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶3; Exhibit C, Nacme's Admission of Facts, Facts 1 and 2].

Nacme owns and operates a steel processing facility located at 429 West 127th Street, Chicago, Cook County, Illinois. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶3; Exhibit C, Nacme's Admission of Facts, Fact 1]

At the Facility, Nacme operates a continuous coil pickling line, comprised of four (4) pickling tanks in a turbo tunnel enclosure, and a four (4) stage washer. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶4; Exhibit C, Nacme's Admission of Facts, Fact 4] Emissions from the

pickling tanks and washer are vented to a Pro-Eco four tray scrubber ("scrubber"). [Exhibit B, Answer ¶4; Exhibit C, Nacme's Admission of Facts, Fact 3]

The pickling tanks, which can be heated to approximately 190 degrees Fahrenheit, utilize HCL at various concentrations in a dissolution process to remove impurities from hot rolled steel ("pickling"). [Exhibit B, Answer ¶5; Exhibit C, Nacme's Admission of Facts, Fact 4] After pickling, the steel goes through an aqueous based four stage washer ("washing"). [Exhibit B, Answer ¶5; Exhibit C, Nacme's Admission of Facts, Fact 4]

During the pickling and washing, air emissions are captured in ducts with a TurboTunnel enclosure and transported via piping to the scrubber. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶6] Additionally, pickling and washing tanks containing the HCL are equipped with covers to minimize exposure of HCL to the atmosphere when not in use. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶6; Exhibit C, Nacme's Admission of Facts, Fact 2]

On February 8, 2001, the Agency issued Nacme's SOP for control of its air emissions at the Facility. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶7] Nacme's SOP was issued as a condition of settlement of a permit appeal PCB 01-85. [Exhibit F1, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – Nacme's SOP, page 1, ¶1] Nacme's SOP expired on October 25, 2005. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶7; Exhibit F1, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – Nacme's SOP]

Nacme's SOP permitted a process rate at the Facility of 600,000 tpy⁴ and an emission factor of 4.8 lbs of HCL per 1000 tons of steel throughput ("SOP emission factor")[Exhibit F1, IEPA Reuter affidavit – Nacme's SOP, page 1, ¶2]

On April 11, 2002, Nacme submitted an Operating Permit Revision Application with a cover letter requesting an operating permit revision and construction permit ("2002 Construction Permit Application"). [Exhibit F2, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – 2002

4 600,000 tpy/24 x 365 = 69 tph. [Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit ¶10]

Construction Permit Application] The 2002 Construction Permit Application addressed a modification to the Facility, installing a TurboTunnel enclosure, and requested an allowance to operate at a higher process rate of 750,000 tpy.⁵ [Exhibit F2, IEPA affidavit – 2002 Construction Permit Application, page NMLP 0784]

On April 12, 2002, the Agency issued the 2002 Construction Permit to Nacme for the installation of an emissions tunnel and retesting of the modified steel pickling process. [Exhibit F3, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – 2002 Construction Permit] The 2002 Construction Permit allowed Nacme to operate with an emission factor of 4.8 and a process rate of 750,000 tpy for the purposes of stack testing only, which was greater than the process rate of 600,000 tpy permitted by Nacme's SOP. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶8; Exhibit F3, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – 2002 Construction Permit, page 1, ¶1; Exhibit F1, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – Nacme's SOP, page 1, ¶2]

On April 16, 2002, Nacme conducted the April 2002 Stack Test. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶9] The April 2002 Stack Test report indicated a process rate of 33.3 tons per hour ("tph").⁶ [Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶3, (referencing Exhibit F4 IEPA Reuter Affidavit - April 2002 Stack Test, page IEPA FOIA 408); Exhibit F9, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, page 1, ¶2]

The April 2002 Stack Test resulted in PTE HCL air emissions of 95 tpy, which is greater than 10 tpy. [Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶¶4 and 10 (referencing average HCL controlled emissions found at F4, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - April 2002 Stack Test, 2.0 Summary of Results chart, page IEPA FOIA 402, line 2 and 6.0 Test Results

^{5 750,000} tpy process rate divided by (24x365) = 85.6tph process rate. [See Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky affidavit, ¶10]

^{6 33.3} tph process rate x (24x365) = 292,000 tpy process rate. [See Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky affidavit, ¶10]

Summary, page IEPA FOIA 406, line 9; Exhibit F9, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, pages 1-2, ¶3)]

On May 16, 2002, the Agency denied Nacme's Operating Permit Application -Revised dated April 11, 2002 ("2002 Operating Permit Denial"). [Exhibit F5, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - 2002 Operating Permit Denial]

On April 4, 2005, the Agency received a permit renewal application for Nacme's SOP submitted by Nacme ("April 2005 SOP Renewal Application"). [Exhibit B, Answer ¶10; Exhibit F6, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - April 2005 SOP Renewal Application]

On April 13, 2005, the Agency issued a Notice of Incompleteness to Nacme's April 2005 SOP Renewal Application for failure to provide detailed calculations for the Facility's actual emissions and PTE of hazardous air pollutant, HCL, and failure to provide updated information on production rate and emissions based on its April 2002 Stack Test. [Exhibit F7, IEPA Reuter Affidavit, April 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, page 1, ¶¶1 and 2]

On September 12, 2005 the Agency received a second permit renewal application for Nacme's SOP submitted by Nacme ("September 2005 SOP Renewal Application"). [Exhibit B, Answer ¶12; Exhibit F8, IEPA Reuter Affidavit, September 2005 SOP Renewal Application]

In its September 2005 SOP Renewal Application, Nacme proposed a process rate of 750,000 tpy. [Exhibit F8, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – September 2005 State Operating Permit Renewal Application, page NMLP 0952]

In its September 2005 SOP Renewal Application, Nacme stated that the control efficiency of its scrubber was 99.90 % for particulate emissions and 99.90% for gaseous

emissions. [Exhibit F8, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - September 2005 SOP Renewal Application, NMLP 0950]

In its September 2005 SOP Renewal Application, Nacme proposed the basis of its controlled HCL air emissions to be calculated utilizing its SOP Emission Factor and its proposed 750,000 tpy process rate, instead of basing it on the most recent emission factor and process rate that resulted from the April 2002 Stack Test.⁷ [Exhibit F8, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - September 2005 SOP Renewal Application, page NMLP 0953; Exhibit F1, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - Nacme's SOP, page 1, ¶2; Exhibit F4, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - April 2002 Stack Test, pages NMLP 0402, 0406 and 0408; Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶¶6 and 5; and Exhibit F9, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, page 1, ¶2]

On September 20, 2005, the Agency issued a Notice of Incompleteness to Nacme's September 2005 SOP Renewal Application for Nacme's failure to substantiate the proposed permit emission factor of 4.8 lbs/10³ tons with the results from the April 2002 Stack Test; the emissions factor derived from the April 2002 Stack Test was 6.51 lbs/10³ Tons. [Exhibit F9, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, page 1, ¶2; Exhibit F4, IEPA Affidavit - April 2002 Stack Test, pages NMLP 0402, 0406 and 0408; and Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶¶5 and 6]

In the September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, the Agency notified Nacme that it required a construction permit because Nacme's September 2005 SOP Renewal Application proposed a Process Modification when it proposed a change in process rate to 750,000 tpy from the process rate of 292,000 tpy that was the result of Nacme's April

⁷ April 2002 Stack Test resulted in a 6.51 $lbs/10^3$ tons of steel emission factor and a 33.3 tph process rate. [See Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶¶5 and 3]

2002 Stack Test.⁸ [Exhibit C, Nacme's Admission of Facts, Fact 9; Exhibit F9, IEPA Reuter affidavit –September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, page 1, ¶1; Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶¶7 and 8]

In the September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, the Agency notified Nacme that the Agency had determined that the estimated PTE for the HCL air emissions at the Facility was greater than 10 tpy of HCL from a single source. [Exhibit F9, IEPA Affidavit - September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, page 1, ¶3] The Agency calculated the HCL PTE air emissions from information provided in Nacme's September 2005 SOP Renewal Application; specifically, Nacme's April 2002 Stack Test results show a PTE greater than 10 tpy of HCL from a single source. [Exhibit F9, IEPA Affidavit - September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, page 1, ¶3; Exhibit E, IEPA Affidavit - September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, page 1, ¶3; Exhibit E, IEPA

Accordingly, in the September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, the Agency informed Nacme in writing that the Facility was operating as a major source and required a CAAPP permit or, alternatively, a FESOP. [Exhibit F9, IEPA Reuter Affidavit -September 2005 Notice of Incompleteness, Pages 1, ¶3]

On October 18, 2005, Nacme submitted to the Agency its 2005 FESOP Application. [Exhibit C, Nacme's Admission of Facts, Fact 16; Exhibit F10, IEPA Reuter Affidavit - 2005 FESOP Application] In its 2005 FESOP Application, Nacme proposed a process rate of 750,000 tpy, which was previously permitted by its 2002 Construction Permit, but for stack testing only, and which was greater than the process rate of 600,000 tpy permitted in Nacme's SOP or 292,000 tpy resulting from Nacme's April 2002 Stack Test. [Exhibit C, Nacme's Admission of Facts, Fact 9; Exhibit F10,

^{8 292,000} tpy, See FN 6.

IEPA Reuter Affidavit - 2005 FESOP Application, HAP Emissions Summary, page 6-2 (NMLP 0311); Exhibit F3, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – 2002 Construction Permit, page 1, ¶1; Exhibit F1, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – Nacme's SOP, page 1, ¶2]

On December 6, 2005, the Agency issued a notice of completeness determination of Nacme's 2005 FESOP Application ("December 2005 Notice"). [Exhibit F11, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – December 2005 CAAPP Application Completion Determination] In addition, in the December 2005 Notice, the Agency informed Nacme that "notwithstanding the completeness determination, the Agency may request additional information necessary to evaluate or take final action on the FESOP application." [Exhibit F11, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – December 2005 CAAPP Application Completion Determination, page1, ¶3]

In December 2005, the Agency informed Nacme that it could issue a FESOP with an HCL air emissions process rate no greater than 33.3 tph pursuant to its April 2002 Stack Test results but not at the HCL air emissions process rate of 85.6 tph proposed in Nacme's 2005 FESOP Application.⁹ [Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶7; Exhibit F14, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – 2007 FESOP Application, page NMLP 0271, ¶2] Additionally, the Agency informed Nacme that it was required to submit a construction permit before the Agency could approve the change in process rate. [IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶8]

Nacme admits that the Process Modification request in its 2005 FESOP Application and 2007 FESOP Application are modifications in its operation and that a modification in the existing operation requires a construction permit. [Wenzel Deposition, pages 22, 48, 78-79]

^{9 33.3} tph = 292,000 tpy; 85.6 tph = 750,000 tpy. [IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶10]

On December 21, 2006, Nacme conducted its December 2006 Stack Test. [Exhibit B, Answer ¶18] The test resulted in an HCL air emissions process rate of 119.9983 tph. [Exhibit F13, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – 2007 FESOP Application, page 2, ¶3; and Exhibit F12, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – December 2006 Stack Test, Test Results Summaries page NMLP 0026]

On March 23, 2007, Nacme submitted its 2007 FESOP Application with a proposed Process Modification to operate at a process rate of 119.9983 tph, which exceeds the process rate of 69 tph of Nacme's SOP, it's most recent operating permit. [See Exhibit C, Nacme Admission of Facts, Fact 11; Exhibit F1, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – Nacme's SOP, page 2, ¶3; Exhibit F13, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – 2007 FESOP Application, page 2, ¶3; Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶10]

From December 2005 through at least January 24, 2012, when Nacme met with the People in a litigation prefiling meeting, the Agency requested Nacme submit a construction permit for the Process Modification requested in its 2007 FESOP Application. [See Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶8]

On or about February 12, 2012, Nacme submitted a construction permit application requesting the process modification of 120 tph, which was equivalent to the Process Modification requested in its 2007 FESOP Application. [See Exhibit E, IEPA Brodsky Affidavit, ¶9]

On April 26, 2012, the Agency issued the 2012 Construction Permit for the Facility with special condition 1c authorizing Nacme to operate at the Facility with the proposed Process Modification until the Agency took final action on the 2007 FESOP Application. [Exhibit F13, IEPA Reuter Affidavit – 2007 FESOP Application]

IV. LEGAL STANDARD FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Section 101.516(b) of the Board's Procedural Regulations, 35 Ill. Adm. Code

101.516(b), provides as follows:

b) If the record, including pleadings, depositions and admissions on file, together with any affidavits, shows that there is no genuine issue of material fact, and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, the Board will enter summary judgment.

Section 2-1005 of the Illinois Code of Civil Procedure, 735 ILCS 5/2-1005

(2012), provides, in relevant part, as follows:

Summary Judgments

(a) For Complainant. Any time after the opposite party has appeared or after the time which he or she is required to appear has expired, a Complainant may move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his or her favor for all or part of the relief sought.

Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings and depositions, together with any affidavits and other items in the record, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (*citing Dowd & Dowd, Ltd. v. Gleason*, 181 Ill. 2d 460, 693 N.E.2d 358 (1998).

The purpose of the summary judgment procedure is to aid in the expeditious resolution of a lawsuit. *Atwood v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 363 Ill.App.3d 861, 863, 845 N.E.2d 68, 70 (2d Dist. 2006), *Olson v. Etheridge*, 177 Ill.2d 396, 404, 686 N.E.2d 563, 566 (1997). The purpose of a summary judgment proceeding is not to try an issue of fact, but to determine whether any genuine issue of material fact exists. *Happel v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 199 Ill.2d 179, 186, 766 N.E.2d 1118, 1123 (2002). The use of summary judgment is encouraged under Illinois law. *Bolingbrook Equity I Limited*

Partnership v. Zayre of Illinois, Inc., 252 Ill.App.3d 753, 764, 624 N.E.2d 1287, 1295 (1st Dist. 1993).

A motion for summary judgment should be granted when the pleadings and affidavits reveal that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Balla v. Gambro, Inc.*, 145 Ill.2d 492, 508, 584 N.E.2d 104, 112 (1991).

In moving for summary judgment, the People rely, in part, on Respondent's admissions of certain material facts in its Answer and Response to Complainant's Requests to Admit. The Board's Procedural Regulations, 35 Ill. Adm. Code 101.516(b), and Supreme Court Rule 216 plainly allow requests for admission of any fact which is relevant, and ultimate facts fall within this broad category, *P.R.S. Int'l., Inc. v. Shred Pax Corp.*, 184 Ill.2d 224, 236, 703 N.E.2d 71, 77 (1998).

Given the proffered evidence and Respondent's material admissions, the legal and factual bases for the People's theories of liability are set forth as follows:

V. ARGUMENT-NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT

The Complaint and Answer filed in this cause, and Nacme's Response to the State's Requests to Admit, together with the People's affidavits, IEPA Brodsky's Affidavit and IEPA Reuter Affidavit, supporting this motion, establish all undisputed material facts necessary to prove Nacme violated Sections 39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) (2010). Respondent's operations at the Facility are subject to the Act and the rules and regulations promulgated by the Board and the Agency. Accordingly, because there is no genuine issue as to any

material fact, the Complainant is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law on Count I:

Summary Judgment as to Sections 9(b), 39.5(5)(x), and 39.5(6)(b) of the Act alleged: Nacme operated a CAAPP Facility and equipment without a CAAPP or FESOP permit

Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference into its Motion for Summary Judgment on Count I the foregoing sections of this Complainant's Motion for Summary Judgment entitled "Procedural History," "Statement of Undisputed Facts," and "Legal Standard."

From at least April 16, 2002 through at least February 11, 2012, Respondent operated pickling operations at its Facility, a major source for HCL air emissions, without a Title V CAAPP permit or, in the alternative, a FESOP. In fact, by Nacme's own attestation in its 2005 FESOP Application, 2007 FESOP Application, and 2012 Construction Permit submitted to the Agency, Nacme admits that the Facility's PTE for HCL, a HAP, air emissions have been and are greater than 10 tpy and that each of the aforementioned FESOP applications relied on one of following stack test results for the Facility: April 2002 Stack Test and December 2006 Stack Test. Accordingly, Nacme's FESOP applications are admissions that its Facility was a "major source" and required a FESOP permit to operate its Facility from at least April 16, 2002, when Nacme's April 2002 Stack Test results demonstrated the PTE of HCL, a HAP, at the Facility was 10 tpy or greater, through at least February 11, 2012, when the Agency received Nacme's 2012 Construction permit.

Additionally, the facts clearly show that Nacme's SOP was not a CAAPP, or in the alternative, a FESOP, that permitted Nacme, a "major source," to conduct pickling

operations at the Facility from at least April 16, 2002 through at least February 11, 2012. In fact, when Nacme failed to submit a CAAPP application after it learned from the results of the April 2002 Stack Test that its Facility was a "major source" for HCL air emissions, Nacme was no longer permitted to conduct pickling operations at is Facility.

In Count I of the Complaint, the People seek a finding that the Respondent violated Sections 9(b), 39.5(5)(x), and 39.5(6)(b) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/9(b),

39.5(6)(b), 39.5(5)(x), and (2010), which provide as follows:

Section 9(b) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/9(b) (2010), provides as follows:

No person shall:

(b) Construct, install, or operate any equipment, facility, vehicle, vessel, or aircraft capable of causing or contributing to air pollution or designed to prevent air pollution, of any type designated by Board regulations, without a permit granted by the Agency, or in violation of any conditions imposed by such permit;

Section 39.5(6)(b) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(6)(b) (2010), provides as

follows:

Prohibition

After the applicable CAAPP permit or renewal application submittal date, as specified in subsection 5 of this Section, no person shall operate a CAAPP source without a CAAPP permit unless the complete CAAPP permit or renewal application for such a source has been timely submitted to the Agency.

Section 39.5(5) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(5) (2010), provides, in

pertinent part, as follows:

Applications and Completeness.

x. ... The owner or operator of an existing source that has been excluded from the provisions of this Section under subsection 1.1 or paragraph (c) of subsection 3 of this Section and that becomes

subject to the CAAPP solely due to a change in operation at the source shall submit its complete CAAPP application consistent with this subsection at least 180 days before commencing operation in accordance with the change in operation.

Section 39.5(2) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(2) (2010), provides, in

pertinent part, as follows:

Applicability

a. Sources subject to this Section shall include:

i. Any major source as defined in paragraph (c) of this subsection.

c. For purposes of this Section the term "major source" means any source that is:

i. A major source under Section 112 of the Clean Air Act, which is defined as:

A. For pollutants other than radionuclides, any stationary source or group of stationary sources located within a contiguous area and under common control that emits or has the potential to emit, in the aggregate, 10 tons per year (tpy) or more of any hazardous air pollutant which has been listed pursuant to Section 112(b) of the Clean Air Act, 25 tpy or more of any combination of such hazardous air pollutants, or such lesser quantity as USEPA may establish by rule.

Section 39.5(3) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(3) (2010), provides, in

pertinent part, as follows:

Agency Authority to Issue CAAPP Permits and Federally Enforceable State Operating Permits.

c. The Agency shall have the authority to issue a State operating permit for a source under subsection (a) of Section 39 of this Act, as amended, and regulations promulgated thereunder, which includes federally enforceable conditions limiting the "potential to emit" of the source to a level below the major source threshold for

that source as described in paragraph (c) of subsection 2 of this Section, thereby excluding the source from the CAAPP, when requested by the applicant pursuant to paragraph (u) of subsection 5 of this Section.

Section 3.315 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.315 (2010), provides the following

definition:

"PERSON" is any individual, partnership, co-partnership, firm, company, limited liability company, corporation, association, joint stock company, trust, estate, political subdivision, state agency, or any other legal entity, or their legal representative, agent or assigns.

Section 3.165 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.165 (2010), provides the following

definition:

"CONTAMINANT" is any solid, liquid, or gaseous matter, any odor, or any form of energy, from whatever source.

Section 3.115 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.115, provides the following

definition:

"AIR POLLUTION" is the presence in the atmosphere of one or more contaminants in sufficient quantities and of such characteristics and duration as to be injurious to human, plant, or animal life, to health, or to property, or to unreasonably interfere with the enjoyment of life or property. 415 ILCS 5/3.115 (2010)

Section 39.5(1) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(1) (2010), provides, in

pertinent part, the following definitions:

"CAAPP" means the Clean Air Act Permit Program developed pursuant to Title V of the Clean Air Act.

"CAAPP PERMIT"... means any permit issued, renewed, amended, modified, or revised pursuant to Title V of the Clean Air Act.

"CAAPP SOURCE" means any source for which the owner or operator is required to obtain a CAAPP permit pursuant to subsection 2 of this Section. "OWNER OR OPERATOR" means any person who owns, leases, operates, controls, or supervises a stationary source.

"POTENTIAL TO EMIT" means the maximum capacity of a stationary source to emit any air pollutant under its physical and operational design. Any physical or operational limitation on the capacity of a source to emit an air pollutant, including air pollution control equipment and restrictions on hours of operation or on the type or amount of material combusted, stored, or processed, shall be treated as part of its design if the limitation is enforceable by USEPA. This definition does not alter or affect the use of this term for any other purposes under the Clean Air Act, or the term "capacity factor" as used in Title IV of the Clean Air Act or the regulations promulgated thereunder.

"SOURCE" means any stationary source (or any group of stationary sources that are located on one or more contiguous or adjacent properties, and are under common control of the same person or persons under common control) and that belongs to a single major industrial grouping....

"STATIONARY SOURCE" means any building, structure, facility, or installation that emits or may emit any regulated air pollutant . . .

"REGULATED AIR POLLUTANT" means the following:

(5) Any pollutant subject to a standard promulgated under Section 112 or other requirements established under Section 112 of the Clean Air Act,

Section 112(a) (6) of the Clean Air Act, 42 USC 7412(a)(6), provides, in

pertinent part, the following definition:

(6) Hazardous air pollutant

The term "hazardous air pollutant" means any air pollutant listed pursuant to subsection (b) of this section.

Section 112(b) (List of Pollutants) of the Clean Air Act, 42 USC 12(b)(1), provides, in pertinent part, the following:

(1) Initial list

The Congress establishes for purposes of this section a list of hazardous air pollutants as follows:

Hydrochloric acid

1. NACME is a "person."

Nacme was and is a limited liability company and, therefore, a "person" as that term is defined under Section 3.315 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.315 (2010).

2. HCL is a "contaminant", "regulated air pollutant" and "hazardous air pollutant" whose presence in the atmosphere is "air pollution."

HCL volatilizes as a gas and particulate matter in air emissions at the Facility and is therefore, a "contaminant" as that term is defined under Section 3.165 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.165 (2010). HCL is a "hazardous air pollutant" ("HAP") and a "regulated air pollutant," as those terms are defined by Section 112(b) (List of Pollutants) of the Clean Air Act, 42 USC 12(b)(1), and Section 39.5(1) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(1) (2010), respectively. Accordingly, in sufficient quantities and of such characteristics and duration, HCL is injurious to human, plant, or animal life, to health, to property, and unreasonably interferes with the enjoyment of life or property, and, therefore, constitutes "air pollution" as that term is defined under Section 3.115 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.115.

3. The operation of equipment at the Facility is capable of causing or contributing to air pollution or designed to prevent air pollution.

From April 16, 2002 through February 11, 2012, four (4) pickling tanks enclosed in a turbo tunnel enclosure, and a four (4) stage washer containing HCL, operating at the Facility have been and are equipment capable of emitting HCL emissions and causing or

contributing to air pollution. The scrubber and the TurboTunnel enclosure that capture air emissions from operations of the washing and pickling process have been and are equipment used to prevent HCL air emissions, a HAP and contaminant, from the Facility.

4. The Facility is a "source" and "stationary source" as those terms are defined in Section 39.5(1) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(1) (2010), and a "major source" as that term is defined in Section 39.5(2)(c) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(2)(c) (2010).

The Nacme Facility, which emits HCL air emissions, a HAP, and "regulated air pollutant," is a "stationary source" and "source" as those terms are defined under Section 39.5(1) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(1) (2010). Beginning on at least April 16, 2002, when Nacme conducted its April 2002 Stack Test at the Facility that resulted in a change in Nacme's previously reported PTE of a single HAP, HCL, to greater than 10 tpy, through February 11, 2012, when Nacme submitted its CAAPP Construction Permit Application, the Facility was and is a "major source" as that term is defined under Section 39.5(1) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(1) (2010).

5. Nacme failed to apply for and submit an application to the Agency for a CAAPP or, alternatively, a FESOP, at least 180 days before commencing operation in accordance with the change in operation at the Facility.

As a major source since at least April 16, 2002, Nacme was required to apply for and submit an application to the Agency for a CAAPP or, alternatively, a FESOP, at least 180 days before commencing operation in accordance with the change in PTE of its HCL emissions at the Facility. The Illinois EPA received Nacme's initial complete application for a FESOP on October 18, 2005, more than 3 years and 6 months <u>after</u> the Facility became a major source. From at least April 16, 2002 through at least February 11, 2012, Nacme continued operating the Facility without a CAAPP or FESOP permit issued by the Agency. On December 6, 2005, the Agency responded to Nacme's 2005 FESOP Application with a request for additional information; specifically, the Agency requested Nacme to submit a construction permit application for the Process Modification it proposed in its 2005 FESOP Application. The plain language of the Section 201.102 of the Illinois Pollution Control Board's Regulations, 35 Ill. Adm. Code 201.102, states that increasing output is a Modification:

"Modification": any physical change in, or change in the method of operations of, an emission source or of air pollution control equipment which increases the amount of any specified air contaminant emitted by such source or equipment or which results in the emission of any specified air contaminant not previously emitted. It shall be presumed that an increase in the use of raw materials, the time of operation or the rate of production will change the amount of any specified air contaminant emitted. Emphasis added.

Nacme admits that it intentionally did not provide the construction permit application as requested by the Agency because Nacme claims that a construction permit is not required for its FESOP applications. Yet, Nacme admits that the Process Modification is a modification and that modifications require a construction permit application. Thus, a construction permit is plainly required by law for the Agency to permit an increase in the maximum annual steel throughput permitted in Nacme's SOP, its most recent permit at the time of Nacme proposed the Process Modification it its 2005 FESOP Application and 2007 FESOP Application. Nevertheless, Nacme failed to submit a construction permit for over 6 years, even after several notifications from the Agency of its noncompliance

^{6.} Nacme operated a CAAPP source without a CAAPP permit or timely submitting a complete CAAPP permit application for a major source to the Agency.

and the need to submit a construction permit application to obtain a FESOP with the Process Modification Nacme proposed.

By operating a major source without timely submitting an application within at least 180 days before commencing operation as a major source, and by operating a "major source" without a CAAPP permit, Nacme violated Section 39.5(5)(x) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(5)(x) (2010), and, thereby, violated Sections 39.5(6)(b) and 9(b) of the Act, 415 ILCS5/39.5(6)(b) and 9(b) (2010).

VI. <u>RELIEF REQUESTED</u>

WHEREFORE, Complainant, PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, prays for the entry of summary judgment in its favor and against NACME STEEL PROCESSING, LLC on Count I of the Complaint for the reason that the pleadings, judicial admissions on file, and affidavits show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the People are entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. Specifically, Complainant seeks an order:

1. Finding that Nacme violated Sections 39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) (2010);

Ordering Nacme to cease and desist from any further violation of Sections
39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b)
(2010);

Assessing against Nacme a civil penalty of One Hundred Thousand dollars (\$100,000.00);

4. Ordering Nacme to pay all costs of this action, including attorney, expert witness and consultant fees expended by the State in its pursuit of this action; and

5. Granting such other relief as this Board deems appropriate and just.

VI. <u>REMEDY</u>

Section 2(b) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/2(b)(2010), provides:

It is the purpose of this Act, as more specifically described in later sections, to establish a unified, state-wide program supplemented by private remedies, to restore, protect and enhance the quality of the environment, and to assure that adverse effects upon the environment are fully considered and borne by those who cause them. (emphasis added)

Impact on the Public Resulting from Respondent's Alleged Non-Compliance

Section 33(c) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/33(c) (2006), provides as follows:

In making its orders and determinations, the Board shall take into consideration all the facts and circumstances bearing upon the reasonableness of the emissions, discharges, or deposits involved including, but not limited to:

- 1. the character and degree of injury to, or interference with the protection of the health, general welfare and physical property of the people;
- 2. the social and economic value of the pollution source;
- 3. the suitability or unsuitability of the pollution source to the area in which it is located, including the question of priority of location in the area involved;
- 4. the technical practicability and economic reasonableness of reducing or eliminating the emissions, discharges or deposits resulting from such pollution source; and
- 5. any subsequent compliance.

In response to these factors, the Complainant states the following:

1. The impact to the public resulting from Respondent's failure to timely

apply for a CAAPP when it knew or should have known it was a "major soure" in

connection with the pickling operations at its Facility resulted in the threat of air pollution

of HCL air emissions, a HAP, which threatened human health and the environment.

Accordingly, the Illinois EPA's information gathering responsibilities were hindered by the Respondent's violations thereby threatening human health and the environment.

2. There is social and economic benefit to the facility.

3. Operation of the facility is suitable for the area in which it occurs.

4. Submitting a timely FESOP application prior to becoming a major source by changing operations at the site is both technically practicable and economically reasonable.

5. Respondent has subsequently complied with the Act and the Board regulations.

A civil penalty should be assessed against Nacme because of the potentially severe impact the threat of exposure to HCL air emissions, a HAP, had on human health and the environment.

Explanation of Civil Penalties Requested

Section 2(b) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/2(b) (2006), provides:

It is the purpose of this Act, as more specifically described in later sections, to establish a unified, state-wide program supplemented by private remedies, to restore, protect and enhance the quality of the environment, and to assure that adverse effects upon the environment are fully considered and borne by those who cause them. (Emphasis added.)

The principal reason for penalties for violations of the Act is to aid in

enforcement. Punitive considerations are secondary. Tri-County Landfill Company v.

Illinois Pollution Control Board, 41 Ill.App.3d 249, 353 N.E.2d 316, 325 (2nd Dist.

1976). The Board does grant motions for summary judgment and rules on civil penalties

without sending the case to hearing. See e.g. People v. Zachary Isaac et al, PCB 11-58

(Sept. 20, 2012); see also People v. Byrom Ward et al, PCB 10-72 (July 7, 2011 and Nov.

17, 2011) (no hearing was held, but parties were asked to brief the issue of civil

penalties), People v. Roxana Landfill, Inc., PCB 12-123 slip op at 5 (May 3, 2012);

People v. Ogoco, Inc., PCB 06-16 (Sept. 21, 2006); People v. Steve's Concrete &

Excavating, PCB 08-87 (Mar. 5, 2009); People v. Payne Rogers & Black Gold

International, PCB 00-127 (Aug. 9, 2001).

Section 42(a) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/42(a) (2010), provides in pertinent part, as follows:

a) Except as provided in this Section, any person that violates any provision of this Act or any regulation adopted by the Board, or any permit or term or condition thereof, or that violates any order of the Board pursuant to this Act, shall be liable for a civil penalty of not to exceed \$50,000 for the violation and an additional civil penalty of not to exceed \$10,000 for each day during which the violation continues;

Section 42 of the Act provides guidance for calculating civil penalties for violations of the Act. The statutory maximums provided in the Act have been used as "a natural or logical benchmark from which to begin considering factors in aggravation and mitigation of the penalty amounts." *Illinois EPA v. Allen Barry*, Individually and d/b/a Allen Barry Livestock, 1990 WL 271319, 48 (Slip Op. May 10, 1990, PCB. 88-71).

Assuming for the sake of civil penalties calculation that the Respondent's violations of the statutory provisions alleged in the Complaint were committed from October 26, 2005 through January 31, 2012, the maximum statutory civil penalties that Section 42 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/42 (2010) authorizes for these violations is \$69,120,000.00. The statutory maximum is calculated as follows:

Count I

1 violation of Section $39.5(5)(x)$ of the Act		\$50,000.00
Duration of 2299 days 10/26/2005-2/11/2012		\$22,990,000.00
1 violation of Section 39.5(6)(b) of the Act		\$50,000.00
Duration of 2299 days 10/26/2005-2/11/2012		\$22,990,000.00
1 violation of Section 9(b)		\$50,000.00
Duration of 2299 days 10/26/2005-2/11/2012		\$22,990,000.00
	Total	\$69,120,000.00

Assuming for the sake of civil penalties calculation that the Respondent's violations of the statutory provisions alleged in the Complaint were committed from April 16, 2002 through February 11, 2012, the maximum statutory civil penalties that Section 42 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/42 (2010) authorizes for these violations is

\$107,730,000.00. The statutory maximum is calculated as follows:

Count I

1 violation of Section 39.5(5)(x) of the Act Duration of 3586 days 4/16/2002-2/11/2012

1 violation of Section 39.5(6)(b) of the Act Duration of 3586 days 4/16/2002-2/11/2012

1 violation of Section 9(b) Duration of 3586 days 4/16/2002-2/11/2012

\$35,860,000.00

\$50,000.00

\$50,000.00 \$35,860,000.00

\$50,000.00 \$35,860,000.00

Total

\$107,730,000.00

Consideration of Section 42(H) Factors

Section 42(h) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/42(h) (2010), provides:

In determining the appropriate civil penalty to be imposed under ..., the Board is authorized to consider any matters of record in mitigation or aggravation of penalty, including but not limited to the following factors:

- 1. the duration and gravity of the violation;
- 2. the presence or absence of due diligence on the part of Nacme in attempting to comply with requirements of this Act and regulations thereunder or to secure relief therefrom as provided by this Act;
- 3. any economic benefits accrued by Nacme because of delay in compliance with requirements, in which case the economic benefits shall be determined by the lowest cost alternative for achieving compliance;
- 4. the amount of monetary penalty which will serve to deter further violations by Nacme to otherwise aid in enhancing voluntary compliance with this Act by the violator and other persons similarly subject to the Act;
- 5. the number, proximity in time, and gravity of previously adjudicated violations of this Act by the violator.
- 6. whether Nacme voluntarily self-disclosed, in accordance with Subsection (i) of this Section, the non-compliance to the Agency; and
- 7. whether Nacme has agreed to undertake a "supplemental environmental project," which means an environmentally beneficial project that Nacme agrees to undertake in settlement of an enforcement action brought under this Act, but which Nacme is not otherwise legally required to perform.

In response to these factors, the Complainant states as follows:

1. The duration of the violations that are the subject of the Complaint are alleged by the People to have occurred at a minimum of a nearly ten year period from at least April 16, 2002 through February 11, 2012. The gravity of the alleged violation is egregious because of the length of time Nacme operated without the requisite CAAPP, despite the fact that it was a "major source" for air emissions of HCL as determined during its April 2002 Stack Test, and the several requests to Nacme from the Agency during this time period to provide a construction permit to the Agency so it could approve

and issue a FESOP based on Nacme's proposed Process Modifications in its FESOP applications.

On December 6, 2005, the Agency responded to Nacme's 2005 FESOP Application with a request for additional information; specifically, that Nacme submit a construction permit application for the Process Modification it was requesting in its 2005 FESOP Application. The plain language of the Act states that increasing of steel throughput is a modification. Nacme admits that it intentionally did not provide the construction permit application as requested by the Agency, even though the plain language of the law is clear for Nacme's proposed Process Modification. Nacme failed to submit a construction permit application for over 6 years after several notifications from the Agency of its noncompliance.

In addition, the April 2002 Stack Test conducted at Nacme's Facility demonstrated that PTE HCL air emissions were greater than 10 tpy, qualifying the Facility as a "major source" that required a CAAPP to operate. At no time before October 18, 2005, did Nacme submit a CAAPP application to operate its Facility.

2. For the aforesaid reasons in subsection 1 of this section, Nacme failed to demonstrate diligence toward returning to compliance after failing to submit a CAAPP application 3 ½ years after its April 2002 Stack Test resulted in PTE HCL air emission exceeding 10 tpy and, failing to submit a construction permit from October 2005 through January 2012, despite several requests by the Agency to submit a construction permit application until it was notified of an impending lawsuit against the Respondent for noncompliance with the CAAPP.

3. There was no economic benefit resulting from the violations of the Complaint.

4. Although the maximum civil penalties is at least \$107,730,000.00, the People believe that \$100,000, less than .001% of the statutory maximum, is appropriate for the type of operations and the violations alleged in the Complaint and will serve to deter further violations by Nacme and other persons similarly subject to the Act and the Board Regulations, and otherwise aid in enhancing voluntary compliance with the Act and the Board Regulations.

5. To Complainant's knowledge, Nacme has had no previously adjudicated violations of the Act.

6. There was no self-disclosure by Respondent. In fact, Nacme intentionally chose not to comply with the Agency's repeated requests for a construction permit application required to issue the permit with the process rate Nacme proposed in its 2005 FESOP Application. Additionally, Nacme knew or should have known its PTE HCL air emissions during its April 2002 Stack Test exceeded 10 tpy and was negligent in applying for a CAAPP permit at that time.

7. a supplemental environmental program is not relevant where settlement is not being proffered.

These aggravating and mitigating factors provide guidance to the Board in determining the appropriate amount of a civil penalty in an environmental enforcement case. Accordingly, the People bring these factors to the Board's attention and request a civil penalty of \$100,000.

WHEREFORE, Complainant, PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS,

respectfully requests that the Board grant its Motion for Summary Judgment against Nacme on Count I by finding Nacme violated Sections 39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) of the Illinois Environmental Protection Act ("Act"), 415 ILCS 5/39.5(5)(x), 39.5(6)(b), and 9(b) (2010), award a civil penalty of \$100,000, and take such other action as the Board believes to be appropriate and just.

Respectfully submitted,

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS by LISA MADIGAN Attorney General of the State of Illinois

MATTHEW J. DUNN, Chief Environmental Enforcement/Asbestos Litigation Division

ELIZABETH WALLACE, Chief Environmental Bureau Assistant Attorney General

BY: Nancy J. Pikalsky

Assistant Attorney General Environmental Bureau North 69 W. Washington, Suite 1800 Chicago, Illinois 60602 (312) 814-0608

Dated: May 16, 2014